095 Wapp

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

APR 26 1993

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

BARBARA METCALF,	)		
Appellant,	)		
vs.	{	CASE NO.	81,612
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)		
Appellee.	)		
	j		

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

LOUIS G. CARRES
Assistant Public Defender
Attorney for Barbara Metcalf
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street, 6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600
Florida Bar No. 114460

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the criminal division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida. She was the appellant in the district court of appeal which affirmed a conviction for solicitation to purchase cocaine. She will be referred to as she appears in this Court.

An appendix is attached hereto containing those portions of the record, and pertinent other decisions, deemed necessary to demonstrate jurisdiction.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was arrested after purchasing crack cocaine that was sold to her in a reverse sting operation conducted by the Broward Sheriff's Office using crack cocaine that had been converted from its usual form by the sheriff's laboratory into crack cocaine. The charge lodged against her was solicitation to purchase cocaine instead of purchase of cocaine. This was due to the decision by the district court of appeal in <u>Kelly v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), holding that the sheriff's manufacture of crack cocaine was unauthorized and that the use of such unlawfully manufactured drug by the sheriff's office in making charges of criminal conduct was a violation of due process of law.

The district court of appeal stated the issue as "whether a defendant, who otherwise would be discharged if prosecuted for the <u>purchase</u> of cocaine, pursuant to <u>Kelly</u> ..., may nevertheless be convicted of <u>solicitation</u> to deliver cocaine."

The district court of appeal affirmed the denial of Petitioner's motion to dismiss. The court below distinguished the decision in <u>Kelly</u> where the possession of the substance was an essential element of the offense from the charge in this case where possession was not an element. The court below thus held it to be "irrelevant that the transaction ultimately resulted in the unlawful transfer of a drug."

Based upon its conclusion of a limited relationship between the unlawful drugs utilized by the sheriff and the elements of the crime of solicitation, the court held no violation of Petitioner's right to due process of law.

A timely notice to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court was filed.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves the same due process of law issue that the Court has under consideration in <u>State v. Williams</u>, Fla. Supreme Court Case No. 79,507.

The jurisdiction of the Court is based upon the pending status of <u>Williams</u>, as the Court's jurisdiction was envisioned in <u>Jollie</u> v. State, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981).

Additionally, the Court has jurisdiction because the decision below expressly construes the due process of law clause of Article I, section 9, of the Florida Constitution. Under Article V, section 3(b)(3), the Court has authority to review the decision below.

Uniformity in the law, and justice to parties in substantially similar circumstances, warrants the Court accepting jurisdiction to review this cause. If the Court finds in <u>Williams</u> that the procedure of manufacturing and distributing crack cocaine by a county sheriff's office is so unlawful and inappropriate as a method of identifying and charging drug users that due process of law is offended by such practice, then the Court should review this case in order to ensure uniformity and consistency in the law.

#### ARGUMENT

THE AFFIRMANCE OF PETITIONER'S CONVICTION BASED ON PURCHASE OF POLICE-MANUFACTURED COCAINE, ON THE SOLE BASIS THAT THE CHARGE WAS FILED AS SOLICITATION, CONSTRUES THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS IN A WAY WHICH REQUIRES THIS COURT'S REVIEW.

The decision below expressly interpreted and construed a controlling provision of the federal and Florida Constitutions, the due process of law clause. Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const.; Amendment 14, U.S. Const. As such, the decision below is reviewable under this Court's jurisdiction granted in Art. V, § 3(b)(3).

Additionally, the Court has jurisdiction to review the decision below because of its reliance upon a distinction with the decision of the same court in <u>Kelly v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), which established the rule of law that the manufacture of crack cocaine by the sheriff's office was unauthorized and unlawful and that its use in reverse sting operations constituted a violation of due process of law. The decision in <u>Kelly</u> was not brought before this Court by the state for review, but another case

decided by the Fourth District Court of Appeal that followed and relied upon the decision in <u>Kelly</u> is pending review upon the very same issue decided in <u>Kelly</u>. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 1064 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), is pending review on the merits in this Court, oral argument having been heard in November, 1992. Therefore, the Court should have jurisdiction based upon the principle established by the decision in <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981).

While the Court does not have before it pending on the merits the very case cited to and relied upon below, the Court does have before it and pending on the merits a case relied upon by the district court below that held identically as the lead case referred to in the opinion below. It is a slight extension of the holding in Jollie to find jurisdiction under Jollie, but to fail to do so would conflict with the principle established in that The Court held that consistency and uniformity in the law required that similar cases decided on the basis of a lead case by district courts of appeal be referenced to the lead case. Upon review in this Court of the lead case, all cases following the lead case will also receive review. This eliminates an invidious inconsistency between similar cases that would deny equal justice. Jollie.

In <u>Jollie</u>, 405 So. 2d at 420-421, the Court said:

We believe, however, that there can be improvement in the procedure through which district courts can isolate for possible review in this Court those decisions which merely reference to a lead opinion, as we now have for review, as distinguished from those per curiam opinions which merely cite counseladvising cases such as in <a href="Dodi Publishing">Dodi Publishing</a>. There are two prongs to the problem, and we

believe each can be treated by the judges of the district courts without undue problems.

First, we suggest the district courts add an additional sentence in each citation PCA which references a controlling contemporaneous or companion case, stating that the mandate will be withheld pending final disposition of the petition for review, if any, filed in the controlling decision. In essence, this will "pair" the citation PCA with the referenced decision in the district court until it is final without review, or if review is sought, until that review is denied or otherwise acted upon by this Court. If review of the referenced decision is requested, the parties may seek consolidation here. In any event, the district courts' withholding of the mandates will dispose of the need for separate motions to stay mandates in those courts. This simple process, moreover, can be accomplished administratively in the district courts, in the clerk's offices, without significant activity by the judges either before or after the controlling decision is filed with or acted upon by this Court.

A second aspect of the problem calls for a different approach. We recognize that no litigant can guide the district court's selection of the lead case, and that the randomness the district court's processing would control the party's right of review unless the citation PCA is itself made eligible for review by this Court. To resolve fully this problem, we further suggest that the district courts devise one or more methods to distinguish a contemporaneous or companion case -for example, with distinguishing citation signals or by certifying that an identical point is at issue in the cited case -- from cases which offer a mere counsel notification citation. We have no doubt that district court judges can produce one or more methodologies to preserve the review strictures of the 1980 amendment on the one hand, while on the other eliminating the possible injustice inherent in foreclosing review to some of several equally situated litigants.

The only difference <u>sub judice</u> is that the district court below cited to the true "lead" case. The actual case that is

pending review is a case that was issued slightly later than the first "lead" case and is for purposes of this case and many others decided below, the "lead" case. To deny review because the district court below failed to comply with the policy course outlined in Jollie would foster disparity among litigants based upon the vagaries of how a district court of appeal set forth its decision rather than on the basis of the actual decision itself. The Court has previously announced that its jurisdiction is to review decisions, not mere opinions, of lower courts, thus its jurisdiction extends to the entire case. Gibson v. Maloney, 231 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 1970), cited in <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). See also, Savoie v. State, 422 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1982), and Zirin v. Chas. Pfizer & Co., 128 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 1961). In Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1960), the Court stated that the principle of review in the Supreme Court based upon conflict of decisions is directed at two situations (1) where the decision to be reviewed has announced a differing rule of law, or (2) where the decision to be reviewed has applied a rule to produce a different result based upon substantially the same controlling facts as the case in which the rule was announced.

Sub judice, the controlling facts are that the state manufactured and sold crack cocaine to the public, and based upon that operation the Petitioner was charged with a criminal offense directly related to the use of that manufactured cocaine. Whether the offense was possession, purchase, attempted possession, attempted purchase, solicitation to purchase or solicitation to possess, it should make no difference.

The decision below is either correct or erroneous, and that can be answered only after this Court decides the lead case. The lead case is now Williams, pending decision, and no longer is Kelly. The citation below to Kelly should not control the jurisdiction of this Court when there is also an opinion explaining the rule that the court below was applying. This case is not a mere "citation PCA." Williams, decided shortly after Kelly, is pending review here on the same issue announced by the court below in Kelly. Thus, the Court should decide that under the rationale of Jollie, jurisdiction vests to review the decision below.

The Court should grant review if it ultimately determines that the practice engaged in by the Broward County Sheriff's Office of manufacturing and selling crack cocaine is unauthorized and that charges premised upon that conduct cannot withstand challenge under the due process of law clause of the constitutions.

There are several other cases in which the Fourth District Court of Appeal has decided the same issue and has cited to <a href="Metcalf.">Metcalf.</a>
<a href="Metcalf.">w. State</a>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D427 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 27, 1993), as authority. The district court below has refused on rehearing to either certify conflict or to cite to the <a href="Williams">Williams</a> case. See, e.g., <a href="Gordon v. State">Gordon v. State</a>, Fourth District No. 92-00972, and <a href="Lacy v. State">Lacy v. State</a>, Fourth District No. 92-00953. Thus, numerous convictions have been affirmed based upon <a href="Metcalf">Metcalf</a> as the "lead" case. Review should granted <a href="Subjudice">Subjudice</a>.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The Court is requested to accept jurisdiction to review constitutional interpretation announced by the decision of the district court in the present case.