IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 81,612

BARBARA METCLAF,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA.

Respondent.

ON CERTIORARI FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE STATE ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOSEPH A. TRINGALI
Assistant Attorney General
Plorida Bar 134924
Office of the Atty. General
Dept. of Legal Affairs, Suite #300
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 688-7759

Counsel for the State

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Barbara Metcalf, the criminal defendant and appellant below in the appended Metcalf v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D427 (Fla. 4th DCA January 27, 1993), the decision over which review is sought, will be referred to as "petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority and appellee below, will be referred to as "the State."

No references to the record on appeal will be either necessary or appropriate. Cf. e.g. <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) and <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 note 3 (Fla. 1986).

Any emphasis will be supplied by the State unless otherwise specified.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Those details relevant to a resolution of the threshold jurisdictional question are related in the unanimous decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Metcalf v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D427, which the State adopts as its statement of the case and facts.

The State thus rejects petitioner's "statement of the case and facts," plus those passages in other portions of her jurisdictional brief and appendix containing factual assertions, inasmuch as these statements impermissibly stray from the face of this decision. <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359; <u>Reaves</u> v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 note 3.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is absolutely no basis for this Court's assumption of constitutional construction certiorari jurisdiction over the decision below.

ISSUE

THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT EXPRESSLY
CONSTRUE THE STATE OR FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS;
THIS COURT SHOULD DENY PETITIONER'S
REQUEST FOR REVIEW

ARGUMENT

Petitioner seeks to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Honorable Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Constitution of the State of Florida to review the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Metcalf v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D427 (Fla. 4th DCA January 27, 1993). Petitioner alleges that the decision expressly construes a provision of the state or federal constitutions within the meaning of Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii). Quite simply, Petitioner is wrong.

Respondent acknowledges that the <u>Metcalf</u> decision makes reference to the concept of "due process". However, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not in any manner <u>construe</u> the Constitution in the instant case. Thus, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

It is axiomatic that in order to establish this Court's conflict jurisdiction or to establish jurisdiction on the basis that a district court opinion affects a class of constitutional officers, the basis for the discretionary review must appeal on the face of the district court opinion. See: School Board of Pinellas County v. District Court of Appeal, 467 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 1985). This requirement of expression on the face of the opinion extends to constitutional construction as well.

In order to expressly construe a provision of the state or federal constitution for the purpose of invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, a district court's decision must explicitly "explain, define, or otherwise eliminate existing doubts arising from the language or terms of the constitutional provision." Ogle v. Pepin, 273 So. 2d 391, 393 (Fla. 1973), quoting Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 106 So. 2d 407, 409 (Fla. 1958). Moreover, as noted, the construction must be clear from the face of the district court's opinion.

There is no question that the opinion below contains a passing reference to Petitioner's "due process rights". However, the Fourth District did not, in any manner, expressly construe those rights within the meaning of Ogle v. Pepin, supra. The fact that Petitioner vigorously (and understandably) disagrees with the Fourth District's negative resolution of her direct appeal does not change matters. See: Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980); Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830, note 3 (Fla. 1986).

The mere mention of the words "due process" in a District Court opinion does not, <u>ipso facto</u>, mean that a constitutional provision was construed. At bar, no constitutional provision was construed. Accordingly, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE respondent, the State of Florida, respectfully submits that this Honorable Court must summarily DENY the petition for writ of constitutional construction certiorari.